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Vision, Mission and Goals of the NIE 
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1.0 Profile of the Institute 
 

1.1 Introduction 
 

National Institute of Education was established by the Parliament Act No. 28 of 1985 to provide a 

quality education for the children of the country.  Therefore, creation of productive citizens who value 

the indigenous knowledge and heritage appropriate to the socio-economic context that meets the local 

and global needs is the primary responsibility of the Institute. National Institute of Education is 

entrusted with the responsibility of ensuring the quality of education through a curriculum that 

supports the said endeavour, providing leadership to create skillful professionals required for the 

school system, facilitating the policy making that targets the educational development, and 

establishing a scientifically validated information system.  Accordingly, the aforesaid role assigned to 

the National Institute of Education is carried out by five faculties and an administrative division.  

 

In planning and undertaking its functions, the Institute places as cornerstones, the eight objectives set 

out in the Act as follows. 

 

(a) Advise the Minister regarding plans, programmes and activities for the development of 

education in Sri Lanka; 

(b) Provide and promote post-graduate education in the several specialties of education; 

(c) Conduct and promote studies on the education system including its performance, goals, 

structures, content and methodology and on the social, economic and other aspects of 

education; 

(d) Initiate and promote innovative practices in the education system including adaptation of 

technology for educational purposes; 

(e) Provide for the development of professional and managerial competence of personnel in the 

education system; 

(f) Make available to the Government and other approved organizations, specialist services in 

education; 

(g) Carry out education development programmes approved by the Minister; and  

(h) Co-ordinate with other institutions having similar objectives.  
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1.2 The Organizational Structure 
 

The Council, the Academic Affairs Board and the Director General are at the apex of the Institute. 

The Council is the supreme governing body, and is vested with the administration, management and 

control of the affairs of the Institute in accordance with the provision of Section 6 of the NIE Act No. 

28 of 1985. The membership of the Council are given in Section 7 of the above Act. The members 

served in the Council in 2022 are indicated in Annex I. 

 

The Chief Accounting Officer and the Chairman of the Council is the Secretary of the Ministry 

of Education. Apart from the Council, the Academic Affairs Board (AAB) which consists of 

experts in education management, administration and other relevant fields are responsible for all 

academic affairs of the Institute. The powers, duties and functions of the AAB are given in Section 10 

of the NIE Act. Annex 2 lists the educational experts who represented AAB 2022.  

 

The Director General, under the general direction of the Council, is the Chief Executive and 

Academic Officer of the Institute. He / She is responsible for the execution of all the decisions of 

the Council (Section 11 of the NIE Act). The Secretariat Unit, Department of Examinations, Internal 

Audit Unit and External Resources Management Unit are under the direct supervision of the Director 

General.  

 

The Senior Management Group (SMG) consists of the Director General, Additional Director 

General, Deputy Director Generals and any other Directors (on invitation). It will advise the Director 

General on administrative and operational matters. Meetings of the SMG are held once a month. The 

following Faculties/Divisions hold the responsibility of academic, research, planning, administrative 

and support functions of the Institute in providing a quality service to general education. 

  

1. Faculty of Languages, Humanities and Social Sciences 

2. Faculty of Science and Technology  

3. Faculty of Research, Planning  and Development 

4. Faculty of Education Leadership Development and Management. 

5. Faculty of  Teacher Education and Alternative Education 

6. Division of Administration, Finance and Support Services 

 

Each Faculty / Division is headed by a Deputy Director General and Departments are headed by 

the Directors. Director meetings are held once a month to discuss, matters related to the 

responsibilities under them. Faculty meetings are held at least twice a month with the participation of 

all academic staff in the relevant faculty to review the progress and discuss the issues within the 

faculty. 
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Figure 1: Organigramme 
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1.3 Staffing  
 

In order to realize the aforesaid objectives, the NIE secures the services of a staff of over 424 

employees who are organized and directed by five Faculties and one Division. The table below 

provides a clear picture of the staff of the Institute by the end of 2022. 

  
Table 1: Staff of the Institute by the end of 2022 

Designation 
Approved cadre 

(as at 01.01.2022) 

Current cadre  

(as at 31.12.2022) No. of vacancies 

(as at 31.12.2022) 
Male Female Total 

Director General 01 1 0 1 0 

Additional Director 

General 
01 1 0 1 0 

Deputy Director 

General 
06 3 1 4 2 

Director 27 13 7 20 7 

Board Secretary 

(Education) 
01 0 0 0 1 

Senior Lecturer /                         

Senior Educationist 
72 21 31 52 20 

Lecturer / Educationist 75 5 3 8 67 

Assistant Lecturer / 

Assistant Educationist 
90 30 40 70 20 

Non Academic Staff 379 121 147 268 111 

Total 652 195 229 424 228 

 

 

1.4.1 Academic staff by qualification 
 

The following figure represents the status of the academic staff by qualification by the end of 2022. 

 

               Table 2 : Academic staff by qualification 

Qualification 
No. of 

holders 

PhD 24 

MPhil 10 

MEd/MA/MSc/MBA/MATE 99 

PGDE 09 

First Degree 14 

Figure 2: Academic staff by qualification 
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2.0 Progress of the NIE in 2022 
 

2.1 Financial Progress 
 

Funds from several sources are being used in covering up institutional expenses. After the 

introduction of the Education Sector Development Programme, financial allocations for curriculum 

development related activities were initially covered by the funds from the World Bank, the Asian 

Development Bank, and the United Nations Children's Fund (UNICEF). The annual recurrent grant 

received from the government was mainly used for salaries and wages of the staff but day-to-day 

maintenance and utility bills were settled by the income generated through conducting professional 

development courses. The capital spending on new building construction, renovation and 

improvement of existing buildings, acquisition of plant, machinery, and furniture and office 

equipment was primarily financed by the income produced by the NIE and the Government Grant. In 

addition to that, a certain number of furniture and office equipment were purchased by the funds from 

the World Bank. The table below provides information on the allocation and expenditure of the 

Institute for 2022.  

 

Table 3 : Allocation and expenditure of the Institute for 2022 

Source of Funding 

Recurrent Expenditure (Rs.m) Capital Expenditure (Rs.m) 

Revised 

Allocation 

Actual 

Expenditure 

Revised 

Allocation 

Actual 

Expenditure 

Government Grant 560,000,000 559,970,209 50,000,000 50,000,000 

GEMP 141,000,000 * 111,505,760 16,000,000 0 

CF (MoER) 32,000,000 32,000,000 0 0 

CF (MoE) 60,000,000 31,179,773 0 0 

Income (NIE) 394,711,000 351,850,862 126,127,000 94,273,372 

UNICEF 9,290,375 5,575,375 0 0 

UNESCO (KNCU) 15,818,300 11,806,151 500,700 456,310 

UNESCO (APCEIU) 4,103,000 3,989,013 0 0 

Total 1,216,922,675 1,107,877,142 192,627,700 144,729,682 

 

 

Note: * The NIE received only Rs. 73 million from the GEM project, but an additional Rs.38.5 million  

was spent by the NIE on a reimbursement basis for the activities planned under the GEM 

project. Due to the country's financial crisis, the NIE was unable to get that money. 
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2.2 Physical Progress 

 

Highlights in 2022 

 

 Holding convocation on 27
th
 and 28

th
 of December at the Bandararanaike International 

Memorial Conference Hall for the graduates who successfully completed the degree /post-

graduate courses conducted by the NIE. At the convocation the Minister Hon. Susil Prem 

Jayantha awarded degree certificates to seven MPhil graduates, 458 M Ed graduates, 165 

MSc graduates, and 1,646 BEd graduates. 

 Conducting convocation ceremonies for 12,843 diploma holders in nine NCoEs who 

completed the National Diploma in Teaching for the academic years 2015/2017, 2016/2018 

and 2017/2019. 

 Conducting the first international research symposium on Education for Sustainable Peace 

and National Development. 275 participants including 61 presentations took part at the 

symposium. 

 Enrollment of 7000 students for the Bachelors of Education Degree programme 2022-2025. 

 Holding 24th national RESC conference and 9th National Language Assessment Conference 

on mitigating the effects of learning lost: role of ESL teachers. The conference held online 

from 20
th
  to 22

nd
 December 2022 for 502 participants. 

 

2.2.1 Curriculum Development 
 

One of the main responsibilities of the NIE is designing and developing a curriculum for general 

education. The curriculum development activities of the National Institute of Education are performed 

by the Faculty of Languages, Humanities and Social Sciences and the Faculty of Science and 

Technology.  

 

As per the education policy of Sri Lanka, curriculum reform takes place once in eight years. 

Following this policy, the next curriculum reform was due in 2023. Yet, due to the Covid 19 outbreak 

and the country's current economic crisis, the implementation of this reform had to be deferred to 

2024, postponing the piloting of the new curriculum reform in selected schools by another year. 

However, as an all-encompassing curriculum reform has not been done for about twelve (12) years, 

the full attention of the NIE and the State Ministry of Education Reforms, was focused on reforming 

the school curriculum with the primary aim of producing a child who can successfully face the 

challenges of the 4
th
 Industrial Revolution and is equipped with the skills relevant to the 21

st
 century 

through school education. 
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The new National Curriculum Framework (NCF) which was prepared under the leadership of the 

State Ministry of Education Reforms and the NIE provides a basis to formulate a new general 

education curriculum. The NIE has identified six (6) objectives in the general education curriculum as 

given below. The student who completes the 13 years of schooling should be: 

 

▪ an active contributor to sustainable national development 

▪ an effective and efficient work-oriented citizen 

▪ an entrepreneur and a person with entrepreneurial mind set 

▪ a patriotic citizen 

▪ a good human being 

▪ a member of a happy family 

 

It is expected that the New Curriculum Reforms will design the curriculum module-based on a 

semester system, so that students will be directed to self–learning in the class, while establishing the 

authentic learning methodology in the classroom and assessing the child more by summative 

assessment than by formative assessment.   

 

The following tasks relating to Curriculum Development were completed in 2022. 

 

 In order to pilot new curricula prepared for grades 1, 6 and 10 in selected 100 schools, final 

drafts of activity books, modules, and teacher guides in all three media (Sinhala, Tamil and 

English) were prepared and the progress is given below: 

 

 

 
 

 

   FL-Further Learning      EL-Essential Learning       S-Sinhala      T-Tamil       E-English 
 

 

 

Table 4: Progress of preparation of activity books, modules, and teacher guides for grades 1,6 and 10 
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 Preparation of 254 draft modules out of 344 modules for grade 8 

 Finalizing relevant activity books, modules, and teacher guides based on the feedback 

received from the pre- piloting programme of new curricula prepared for grades 1, 6, and 10 

in selected schools. 

 Preparation of draft activity books, modules, and teacher guides relevant for 1
st
 term of grades 

2, 7, and 11, which are due to be piloted in 2025. 

 Revision required for existing Advanced Level detailed syllabi/ curricula. 

 Preparation of the final draft of the Teacher Guide relevant to grade 13 Korean Language. 

 Preparation of a training manual for developing soft skills and social cohesion in Social 

Science teachers who teach grades 6-11 and updating 24 teachers based on the training 

manual. 

 Finalizing the curriculum framework and learning modules of Global Citizenship Education 

for grades 6-11. 

 Conducting a survey to identify the function of school media clubs in nine provinces in order 

to promote digital citizenship skills in grades 6 and 11. 

 Conducting capacity building programmes for 270 ISAs and teachers of inclusive education 

in 09 provinces with the coordination of MoE. 

 Conducting capacity development programmes for 373 ToTs to strengthen Activity Based 

Oral Education in grades 1 and 2. 

 Conducting capacity development programmes for 485 History teachers in western province 

via zoom. 

 Conducting capacity development programmes for grade 10 Science and Mathematics 

teachers of SESIP target schools on inquiry based and interactive teaching practice. 

 Conducting capacity building programmes for 155 officers who work in Regional English 

Support Centres (RESCs). 

 Training 1800 Principals, Assistant Principals and 450 Subject Directors, Zonal Education 

Directors, In-Service Advisors based on the handbook on Instructional Leadership on 

proposed Secondary Education Reforms. 

 

Pirivena Education 

 

 Conducting two meetings with relevant stakeholders on Pirivena Education. 

 Conducting three awareness programmes on policy papers and findings of research studies. 

 Conducting and completing a survey on special Pirivena Institutes and non – Buddhist 

Institutes in Sri Lanka. 
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Bilingual Education 

 

 

 Completing the preparation of two trainer manuals and continuing the preparation of two other 

trainer manuals for presenting to the evaluation board. 

 Preparation of Teacher Instructional packages for grades 6, 8 and 10 is in progress. 

 Preparing three learning supportive materials for Pirivena Education and making arrangements 

to pilot them. 

 Completing the 1
st
 draft of a research report on NcoEs and completing 12 articles related to a 

research study on the use of language in ancient Sri Lanka. 

 

2.2.2 Professional Development  
 

The NIE as the instrumental body in providing professional development opportunities for the 

personnel involved in the general education system of the country with powers vested under the 

Parliamentary Act no. 28 of 1985 has been committed to teacher quality improvement for the past 

three decades in both pre-service and in-service teacher development aspects. While the pre-service 

teacher professional intervention is carried out through the National Colleges of Education (NCoEs), 

the in-service or continuing professional development activities of the NIE are implemented as short 

term and long term programmes.  

 

2.2.2.1 In-Service teacher education 
 

The Department of Teacher Education and several other departments associated with curriculum in 

conjunction with the Faculty of Education Management, Meepe, through a network of regional 

centres situated across the country have conducted 22 courses ranging from Master of Philosophy to 

Certificate level in Education to develop the professionalism of teachers, teacher educators, education 

administrators, and education managers.   

 

The following table indicates the progress of courses implemented by the various departments and 

units of the NIE. 
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Table 5: Progress of courses implemented by the various departments and units 

Name of the Course 
Department 

Responsible 

No. of 

Participants 

Postgraduate Courses 

Master of Philosophy  

Master of Education 

Master of Science in Education Management 

Master of Education in Education 

Management  

Master of Education Management  

 

Teacher Education 

Teacher Education 

Education Admn. & Dev. 

Education Admn. & Dev. 

 

Education Admn. & Dev. 

 

36 

687 

108 

560 

 

164 

Postgraduate Diploma Courses 

Postgraduate Dip. in Education 

Postgraduate Dip. in Education Management 

(Full time/ Part-time) 

 

Teacher Education 

Professional Dev. &   

Edu. Admn. 

 

9650 

533 

 

Graduate Courses 

Bachelor of Education (Honors) 

Bachelor of Education (General) 

Bachelor of Education (Engineering Tech.) 

Bachelor of Educational Management 

 

Teacher Education 

Teacher Education 

Teacher Education 

Education Admn. & Dev. 

 

703 

3210 

153 

383 

Diploma Courses 

Dip. in Teaching English as a Second 

Language 

Dip. in Early Childhood and Primary 

Education 

Dip. in Special Education 

Dip. in Sign Language 

Dip. in Guidance and Counseling 

Dip. in Additional Language Improvement 

Dip. in Educational Assessment & 

Evaluation 

Dip. in School Management 

 

Dip. in Physical Edu. & Sports  

 

English 

 

Primary Education 

 

Inclusive Education 

Inclusive Education 

Guidance & Counseling 

Teacher Education 

Examinations 

 

Professional Dev. & Edu. 

Admn. 

Health & Physical Edu. 

 

23 

 

235 

 

255 

100 

143 

355 

237 

 

616 

 

480 

Certificate Course 

Certificate course in Braille 

Certificate course in Research Methodology 

 

Inclusive Education 

Research & Dev.  

 

32 

66 
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In addition to the above-mentioned courses, the following other activities were completed related to 

professional development courses for aligning with the new curriculum reforms. 

 

 Preparing three draft course proposals on Master of Education in Curriculum, and Pedagogy, 

Diploma in School Career Guidance and Diploma in Aesthetics for Primary Education. 

 Revision of course proposal and syllabi for Master of Education is in progress. 

 Revision of syllabi of courses in Post Graduate Diploma in Education. 

 Preparing course material for Master of Education in Education Management. 

 Preparing course material for Bachelor of Educational Management. 

 Preparing model papers, course guides and handbooks for Post Graduate Diploma in 

Education Management for both full time and part time courses. 

 Preparing lecture notes, presentations, model papers for Diploma in School Management. 

 Preparing a syllabi book (is in progress) and preparing teaching learning materials for 

Bachelor of Education degree. 

 Preparing teaching learning material for Additional Language Improvement course. 

 Preparing 35 modules and drafting 05 modules (is in progress) for Diploma in Educational 

Assessment and Evaluation (Tamil medium). 

 Revision of modules for Diploma in Physical Education and sports. 

 

2.2.2.2 Pre-service Teacher Education 
 

The NIE is responsible for the development of the curriculum of the pre-service teacher education 

programmes conducted through the National Colleges of Education (NCoE) as well as for the in-

service teacher education programmes conducted through the Teacher Training Colleges (TTCs).  

During the year 2022, the Institute made the following interventions in this regard. 

 

 Preparing a proposal for upgrading the Diploma program currently offered by National 

Colleges of Education to a Bachelor's Degree in Education program. 

 Completing 90% of the syllabi for the professional and general components and 50% of 

syllabi of the special component. 

 Preparing 300 model activities relevant to 1
st
 year of the proposed B.Ed. degree programme. 

 Revising the evaluation procedure of Teacher Training Centres. 

 Completing data collection for the need survey on the development of teacher educators of 

teacher centres.   

 Conducting two academic forums for National Colleges of Education and Teacher Training 

Centers and visiting them for monitoring and evaluation of academic activities. 
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 Preparing a draft SLQF course framework for teacher development courses for Bikku 

Education and sending it to the Pirivena Education Board for their approval. 

 

2.2.2.3 Examinations 
 

The Department of Examinations is responsible for maintaining an efficient and effective examination 

system for the NIE in order to evaluate various courses conducted by the NIE.  The list of 

examinations that were held for evaluation and certification in the year 2022 is incorporated in            

Annex 3.  

2.2.3 Research, Planning and Development 
 

As an Institution functioning towards quality education the NIE contributes to curriculum 

development, professional development and policy making through a variety of research and planning 

activities.  These activities are conducted by the Department of Research and Development and 

Planning and Evaluation and the External Resource Management Unit under the Faculty of Research, 

Planning and Development. Following activities were completed in 2022. 

 

Department/Unit Progress Achieved in 2022 

Research and Development 

 

The Department has to play a major role 

in conducting educational research and 

disseminating findings in order to 

provide a solid foundation for 

appropriate policy making. 

 

 

 

 Completing a research study on “Module based learning 

and development of students' generic skills on proposed 

new education reforms" 

 Conducting an International Research Symposium, 

presenting 62 articles with the representation of various 

countries. 

 Selecting three proposals for research grants, awarding 

research grants for studies already undertaken and 

collecting one final research report (continuation from 

2021) 

 Reviewing and editing of articles for the publication of 

SAARC journal is in progress and will be published by 

February 2023. 

 Holding 32
nd

 Kannangara memorial lecture by Prof. 

Athula Sumathipala, Director, Institute for Research and 

Development and Chairman, National Institute of 

Fundamental Studies on “For a Country with a Future: 
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Educational Reform Sri Lanka Demands Today" on 13
th
 

October 2022.  

Planning and Evaluation 

 

The Department is responsible for 

preparing a five year strategic 

management plan, annual 

implementation plan and budget as well 

as monitoring and evaluating the 

implementation of the plans for 

effective and efficient functioning of the 

Institute. 

 

 Preparation of Annual Progress Report (English) 2021. 

 Preparation of Strategic Management Plan 2023 -2027.  

 Preparation of budget estimates, annual budget, and 

annual implementation plan for the year 2023.  

 Revising annual plan and budget for 2022. 

 Preparation of four quarterly progress reports of activities 

implemented under local and foreign-funded projects in 

2022 and eight monthly financial reports in 2022. 

 Preparation of the following progress reports requested by 

other institutes: 

₋ Progress reports for the Central Bank 

₋ Progress reports in three media for budget debate 

2022. 

₋ Summary note of progress achieved in 2020, 

summary report on five year strategic plan 2020-

2024 along with Cabinet memorandum for 

presenting the Annual report 2020  to the 

Parliament. 

₋ Four quarterly progress reports for foreign-funded 

agencies: UNICEF, GEMP and ADB 

External Resources Management  

 

The Unit is responsible for coordinating 

all foreign scholarships and fellowships. 

 Updating staff development plan and conducting a survey 

to identify training needs of academic staff. 

 Provision of professional development opportunities for 

the staff as follows; 

01 Bachelor degree,  

03 Master degrees,  

01 Post Graduate Diploma in Education 

 Provision of capacity building programmes for 44 staff 

members to participate in short-term tailor-made courses, 

seminars and online workshops. 

 Signing MoU with UPSI Malaysia to establish links with 

specialized education. 
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2.2.4 Alternative Education 
 

The National Institute of Education upholds the concept of “Education for all” and Lifelong 

Education while maximizing its efforts to expand and utilize the facilities offered by modern 

technology and other auxiliary services that supplement the delivery of education. The NIE focuses on 

widening the education opportunities especially for those who missed the mainstream of formal 

education due to various reasons. In pursuing the above, following are the activities implemented by 

the Departments / Units in the year 2022. 

 

Department/Unit Progress Achieved in 2022 

Inclusive Education 

 

This Department is responsible 

for developing school curriculum 

suitable for children with special 

needs, providing necessary 

training to ISAs and teachers 

involved in special education and 

preparation of supplementary 

curriculum materials. 

 Completing 80% of the final draft of a resource book for special 

and inclusive education teachers in the mainstream. 

 Final editing of four guidelines for teachers in the mainstream to 

cater to the children with special educational needs. 

 Translating two international documents on inclusive education 

into Sinhala and Tamil. 

 Conducting capacity building programmes for 270 ISAs and 

teachers in the nine provinces with the coordination of the MoE 

 Conducting a concert to promote aesthetic sense among the 

children with Special Education Needs. 

 Identifying 36 children with special education needs and 

providing counselling for them and their parents. 

 Preparation of assessment tool kit and magazine on inclusive 

education is in progress. 

Guidance and Counselling 

 

To meet the psychological needs 

of the educational community, 

the Guidance and Counselling 

Unit was established. 

 Editing 08 modules on career guidance based on the new 

curriculum reforms and training 105 Trainers in Sinhala and 

Tamil media 

 Developing three psychometric testing tools to the stage of trying out 

 Preparing a draft module on counselling 

 Developing an online test for a research to examine the success 

of a career test for selection of G.C.E. A/L subject streams, 

subjects and student career goals. 

 Providing in-house counselling service for 24 students and their 

parents. 
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Electronic Dissemination 

The main objective of the 

Department is to enrich the 

teaching learning process 

through audio-visual aids that 

could be used by electronic and 

digital media. 

 Production of 25 video programmes to raise awareness about 

education reforms 

 Production of 40 new media interactive education video 

programmes 

 Production of 60 video clips and posts to channel NIE YouTube 

and Facebook and conducting two familiarization programmes 

to uplift channel NIE YouTube and Facebook 

 Establish Channel NIE Web and Channel NIE App 

 Initiating work for establishing NIE Web Radio and production 

of 11 programmes 

 Uploading 327 Gurugedara educational programmes and the 

productions of Department of Electronic Dissemination to 

Channel NIE YouTube 

 Conducting 30 “Jaya Nena " programmes and five “Jaya Nena 

Pene Wisadum” programmes through channel NIE YouTube 

 

Open School Programme 

 

The Open School Unit was 

established with the aim of 

conducting open and distance 

education programmes for the 

groups that have missed formal 

education due to various reasons. 

 Preparing a list of content, and completing environmental 

components related to the vocational orientation module. In 

addition to that, a guideline for tutors of Literacy and Foundation 

courses was prepared 

 Preparing 01 trainer guidelines and training 70 tutors 

 Establishing 06 centres and enrolling 1000 learners for 03 

courses 

 Conducting 4 awareness programmes for stakeholders 

 Conducting 72 sessions for 1000 learners 

 Conducting 07 progress review meetings and 12 visits for 

supervision 

 Preparation of 01 combined report and 01 DVD for the Open 

School project. 

 Updating and upgrading existing supplementary material and 

training 35 tutors related to the special programme for enhancing 

the learning abilities of the Open School learners. 
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2.2.5 Management, Administration, Finance and Other Support Services 
 

Since its inception, the NIE has maintained an unblemished track record of accomplishing the tasks 

entrusted to it aligned with the national goals. NIE has become impossible to achieve these academic 

and professional accomplishments without getting support from the Management, Administration, 

Finance and other support services, provided by the different departments/units in the Division of 

Administration, Finance and Support Services and the DG's Office and other faculties. The under 

mentioned activities have been completed during the period considered. 

 

 

Department/Unit Progress Achieved in 2022 

DG’s Secretariat 

 

The Unit is responsible for the preparation and 

circulation of documents for the NIE Council 

and Academic Affairs Board, maintenance of 

records, and informing the decisions of the 

Council and the Academic Affairs Board (AAB) 

to the relevant Faculties and Division. 

 Conducting 11 Council meetings, 14 AAB 

meetings, 22 academic affairs review committee 

meetings, 04 audit and management committee 

meetings, and 01 finance committee meeting. 

Internal Audit 

 

The Internal Audit Unit supervises the 

implementation of the internal control system 

of the Institute 

 Preparation of an audit plan, 15 audit reports, and 

completion of special assignments assigned by 

the Council/Director General. 

Administration and Human Resources 

 

The Department is in charge of all functions 

related to day-to-day administration, including 

identifying staff training needs and providing 

necessary training at the local level. 

 Making arrangements for promotion of 04 

Management Assistant, 01 Technical Assistant and 

01 Cook.                          

 Making arrangements for recruitments of 01 

Director, 01 Legal Officer and 01 Librarian.  

 Submitting a draft cabinet paper to enhance the 

remuneration and benefits on par with the 

university staff to the Ministry of Education. 

 Conducting 6 local staff development 

programmes. 
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 Forwarding the proposed SOR MM category to PL 

category to the Dept. of Management Services. 

 Maintain a fleet of 29 vehicles. 

Library and Information Services 

 

The library of the NIE is a noteworthy resource 

for the knowledge seekers and professionals 

especially in the field of education. This is the 

largest education library in Sri Lanka and South 

Asia. 

 

 

 

 

 

 Completion of 12,500 entries as the first step 

related to the library automation system. 

 Developing 05 digital databases in order to 

provide online facilities. 

 Completing colour coding of the Library of the 

Meepe premises. 

 Conducting training programmes for 25 school 

library staff. 

 Developing syllabi for academic courses on 

Library Science is in progress. 

 Preparing list of secondary sources and completion 

of a collection development programme. 

 Purchasing 295 books for the library estimated at 

Rs. 2.5m.  

Educational Museum 

 

The Education Museum of NIE is the main 

conservation centre of history of Education in 

Sri Lanka. It houses exhibits, valuable objects 

and information of historical importance relating 

to education in Sri Lanka. 

 Completing 03 exhibition items, preparing 50 

reports and 50 catalog cards for exhibition items 

and gathering 05 items from other institutes. 

 Preparing 05 display boards to disseminate 

historical knowledge on education in Sri Lanka. 

 Preparing a booklet for exhibition items in the 

museum.  

IT Services 

 

The ITSC at the NIE provides a variety of 

services to the academic and non-academic 

communities, such as managing and maintaining 

IT infrastructure, system development, technical 

support, and video conferencing platforms 

 Development of 52 web pages for the newly 

designed website and images and content writing 

related to them are in progress. 

 Completion of financial and inventory modules 

ready to live run related to the ERP system. 

Preparation of payroll, fixed asset 

and HR modules is in progress. 

 Training of 35 users for financial module and 6 

users for inventory module 

 Repair and maintenance of computers, laptops, 

printers, multimedia projectors, PS, scanners, 

network and network switches 
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Printing and Publications 

 

The Department responsibility is to ensure that 

the institute's publications are printed and made 

available at an affordable rate, 

The following materials were printed: 

 Modules -  219 

 Resource books - 98 

 Certificates - 17 

 Invitation - 03 

 Covers for files - 02 

 Other Publications – 47  

 Participating in 03 book exhibitions. 

Finance 

 

The Department of Finance provides financial 

resources for all functions of the Institute and 

maintains income and expenditure reports in 

terms of financial rules and regulations. 

 

 Updating fixed assets register and reconciliation of 

the advance register 

 Conducting and preparing the Board of survey 

report for 2021 

 Preparation and submission of the final financial 

statement- 2021 to the Auditor General  

 Completion of work related to the removal 

procedure for unserviceable items, tender boards 

and stores handing 

 Furnishing laboratories was completed as follows: 

- Mathematics Lab: all furniture items were received. 

- Technological and Bio-science Labs: Tender 

awarded and furniture will be received on 

February 2023. 

 Purchasing and Distributing pedestal fans for 

regional study centres conducting Post Graduate 

Diploma in Education programmes islandwide. 

Engineering Services 

 

The Department carries out the responsibility of 

handling the construction and maintenance work 

of the Institute. 

 Modernizing the main entrance of the National 

Institute of Education Maharagama 

 Completion of work related to the renovation of 

the auditorium at Meepe premises 

 Completion of the balance work of hostel 

complex for SARTDC building-Meepe 

 Initiation of work related to rehabilitation of 

preschool building including a daycare centre. 
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Examinations Conducted                                                   Annex III 

 

 Master of Education (Mgmt.)  (2021/2022) - Semester I  Examination  

 Master of Education (Mgmt.)  (2021/2022) - Semester II  Examination  

 Master of Education (Mgmt.) (2021/2022) - Semester I (Repeat) Examination  

 Master of Education (Mgmt.) (2021/2022) - Semester II (Repeat) Examination  

 Post-graduate Diploma in Education Management-2021/2022 - (Full time)  - Semester I  

 Post-graduate Diploma in Education Management-2021/2022 - (Part time)  - Semester I  

 Post-graduate Diploma in Education 2015/2016, 2017/2018 - (Repeat Examination ) 

 Post Graduate Diploma in Education Management (Part Time) (2021 /2022) - Semester II 

Examination   

 Post Graduate Diploma in Education Management (Full Time) (2021 /2022) - Semester II 

Examination  

 Post Graduate Diploma in Education Management (Full Time) - Semester III Examination  

 Post Graduate Diploma in Education Management (Part Time) - (2021/2022) -Semester III 

Examination   

 Bachelor of Education (Engineering Tech.) - Part IV Examination  

 Bachelor of Education (2017/2021) (General) -Part III Examination  

 Bachelor of Education (Honors) - Part III Examination  

 Bachelor of Education (Honors) - Part IV Examination  

 Diploma in School Management (2021/2022) - Semester I  

 Diploma in Early Childhood Development  (2020/2021) - Final Examination  

 Diploma in Teaching English as a Second Language (2021)- Final Examination  

 Diploma in Additional Language Improvement Programme  (2020) - Final Examination  

 Diploma in School Management (2021/2022) - Semester II Examination  

 Diploma in Special Education (2020) - Final Examination  

 Diploma in Sign Language (2020) - Final Examination  

 National College of Education (2022) - Final  Internal   

 Teachers Training College (2022) - Final Internal  

 Diploma in School Management (Old Syllabus) Repeat Examination  

 

External Examinations  

 Orientation Programme for Newly Recruited Sri Lanka Teacher Education Service - Grade III 

Officers (Limited) Examination - 2022  

 Central Environmental Authority - (Administration Officer)  
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The Director General  

The National Institute of Education  

 

The Auditor General's Report on the Financial Statements and other Legal regulatory 

requirements of the National Institute of Education for the year ending 31st December 

2022, as per clause 12 of the National audit act number 19.  

 

1.  Financial Statement  

 

1.1 Considered opinion  

 

The statement of the financial status of the National Institute of Education ending 

on 31st December 202, the statement of financial performance for the year 

ending on that day, the statement of the change of entitlement, the statement of 

the cash flow for the year ending on that day, notes relevant to the financial 

statements, Financial statements for the year ending on 31st December 2022 

comprising the significant accounting policies summarized that must be read 

combined with the ordinance 154 (i) of the constitution of the Democratic 

Socialist Republic of Sri Lanka, have been audited under my instructions 

according to the provision of the Financial Act number 38 of 1971. My report 

will be tabled at Parliament as per Ordinance 154(6) of the constitution.  

 

I hold the opinion that apart from the influence of the facts described in the 

section on the basis of the report qualified status in carrying my considered 

opinion, the financial situation of the Institute for the year ending on 31st 

December 2019, the financial performance and the cash flow for the same year 

reflect a true and fair status in conformity with the accounting criteria of 

accounting in the Sri Lankan State Sector.  

 

1.2  The basis for the considered opinion 

 

(a)  The total of Rs. 1,801,121 relevant to four projects that had been 

completed by 31st December of the year under review, being shown as 

money in hand without being capitalized, under work being done, has 
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resulted in the value of buildings as less, and the value of the work being 

done as of more value, recorded in the financial statements.  

 

(b)  The necessary revelations were not made in the financial statements as 

per number 11 of the Sri Lanka State Sector Accounting Standards 

regarding the capital grant of Rs. 176,008,097 that had been received by 

the Institute in the year under review. 

 

(c)  It was mentioned that the income from the courses was accounted for on 

the basis of accrued income, on the accounting policy followed by the 

Institute, however the income from the courses was accounted for on the 

basis of cash. The income from the two courses subject to specimen 

scrutiny was Rs. 6,968,250/- for the relevant year, however as the total  

of course fees of Rs. 4,488,750/- received for the years 2020 and 2022, 

was balanced for the year under scrutiny, the sum of Rs.11,457,000/- was 

shown as income from the courses for the year in the financial 

statements.  

 

(d)  As a result of the value of the computer software purchased in the year 

under review at a cost of Rs. 3,027,020/- set off as an expense incurred in 

the year instead of under capital assets, as intangible assets, the income 

for the year was indicated as exceeding by that amount of expenditure, 

and the intangible assets as being less by that amount in the financial 

statements.  

 

I have done the audit according to the Sri Lankan accounting standards. 

My responsibility coming under these auditing standards is further 

described in the section on the auditors responsibility regards the audit of 

the financial statements in this report. It is my belief that the auditing 

evidence I have gathered to provide a basis for my considered opinion is 

adequate.  

 

1.3.  Other information included in the Annual Report of the Institute of the year 

2022.  
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What is meant by ‘other information’ is the information expected to be provided 

to me after the date of this audit report, that are entered in the Annual Report of 

the Institute for the year 2021, but not included in the Financial Statement of the 

Audit Report on it.  The management should bear responsibility for these other 

information.  

 

Which I will not reveal other information related to financial statements from my 

point of view, I will not express any opinion or any assurance of any type about 

the matter.  

 

My responsibility as regards my audit on the financial statements is, to consider, 

when the other information identified above is obtained, to read and in doing so 

consider whether my knowledge gained by another method or in the audit is 

quantitatively compatible with the other information in doing so. 

 

On reading the Annual Report of the Institute for the year 2021, if I come to the 

conclusion that there are quantitative errors, those facts will be communicated to 

the parties who administer, for rectification. If there are further uncorrected 

errors they will be included in the report that will be tabled at parliament by me 

in due course as per 154 (6) Ordinance of the Constitution. 

 

1.4  The responsibility of the administration and management parties as regards the 

financial statements.  

 

It is the responsibility of the Management to decide on the internal governance 

required so that the financial statements can be prepared without quantitative 

erroneous statements that can occur due to mistakes or deceit and the financial 

statements can be presented in a fair way and prepared according to the 

accounting standards of the Sri Lanka Accountancy Standards of the state sector.  

 

It is the responsibility of the Management in preparing the financial statements to 

reveal facts related to the continuance of the Institute and account on the basis of 

maintaining the institute continuously, decide on the ability to maintaining the 

institute unbroken, unless the management decides to terminate the institute or 



142 
 

when there is no other alternative but take action to halt the management 

activities.  

 

The responsibility of examining the process of reporting the finances of the 

Institute is borne by the parties doing the administration. As per sub clause 16(1) 

of the National Audit Act number 19; 2018, books and reports on one’s income, 

expenses, assets and credit must be duly maintained so that it, will facilitate the 

preparation of current and annual financial statements of the Institute.  

 

1.5.  The responsibility of the Auditor General regarding the declaration of financial 

statements.  

 

My objective is to issue the audit report carrying my view, and provide a fair 

assurance, that on the whole the financial statements are devoid of quantitative 

erroneous statements arising out of mistakes and deceit. It is not an assurance 

that in doing the audit as per the Sri Lanka accounting standards, that every time, 

quantitative erroneous statements will be revealed, even though fair assurance is 

an assurance of a high level. While quantitative erroneous statements can occur 

on an influence of deceit, mistakes, individual or group influence, their 

quantitativeness depends on the influence on economic decisions taken by the 

consumers based on the financial statements.  

 

As according to Sri Lanka accounting standards as a part of the audit, I have 

acted with professional judgement and professional doubt further.  

 

Further in obtaining a basis for the auditing opinion that was expressed, an 

auditing further procedure appropriate to the situation was planned and put into 

action, in order to identify and assess the risk of the occurrence of quantitatively 

erroneous statements that can occur in the financial statements as a result of 

deceit or mistakes. The influence of quantitative erroneous statements that occur 

due to deceit is more potent than the influence of quantitative, erroneous 

statements due to misrepresentation because they are the results of misalliance, 

preparation of false documentation, wilful avoidance, false representation or 

avoidance of internal administration. 
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Even though not with the idea of expressing an opinion of the effectiveness of 

the internal administration, an understanding was obtained on the internal 

administration in order to plan appropriate auditing procedure appropriate to the 

situation.  

 

The appropriateness of the accounting policies made use of, the fairness of the 

accounting estimates, the revelations made by the management were duly  

appreciated.  

 

The relevance of making use of the continuous maintenance of the institute as a 

basis for the accounting on the auditing evidence obtained as to whether there is 

a quantitative doubt of the continuous maintenance of the Institute consequent to 

some incident or situation, was decided. If I conclude that there is quantitative 

doubt, then attention must be drawn to it in the relevant revelations in the 

financial statements in my audit report, and if these revelations are not sufficient 

my opinion must be mitigated. However on future incident or situations 

continuous maintenance may cease.  

 

The overall presentation of the financial statements carrying revelations, and the 

fair and appropriate inclusion of events, transactions forming the basis for the 

content and the structure of the financial statements were appreciated. 

 

I will inform the administrative parties on the significant auditing finds identified 

in my audit, the main internal weaknesses and other matters.  

 

02.  Report on legal and regulatory requirements  

 

2.1  There are especial allocations regarding the requirements below in the National 

Audit Act no 19, 2018 

  

2.1.1.  A part from the influence of the facts described in the section on the basis 

for my considered opinion in my report, I have obtained all information 

and clarifications necessary for the audit as required per clause (a) 12 of 

the National Audit Act number 19,2018  and as seen in my investigations 

have maintained the financial records in a proper manner.  
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2.1.2.  The Financial Statements of the Council are in conformity with those of 

the previous year as required by (iii)  (ii) 6 of the National Audit Act 19, 

2018.  

 

2.1.3.  Apart from the observation under (C) on the section of the basis for the 

considered opinion in my report as requirement mentioned in (iv) of (i) 6 

of the National Audit Act 19, 2018, the recommendations  made by me in 

the year gone by are included in the financial statements. 

 

2.2  On the procedure followed, and the evidence obtained and within the limits of 

quantitative facts, my attention was not drawn to anything as to make the 

statements expressed below.  

 

2.2.1  That a member of the Council connected with the Institute has a 

connection outside the general business situation directly or in some other 

way regarding a certain agreement as per requirements stated in clause 12 

(d) of the National Audit Act 19, 2018.  

 

2.2.2  As per requirements maintained in E (12) of the National Audit Act 

number 19, 2018 subject to the observations made below, on the general 

or especial orders issued by the Council of the Institute there have been  

actions not in conformity.  

 Description 

Ref :  

Rules regulations / Instructions 

 

Clause 10.1 of chapter viii of the 

Establishment Code of the 

Democratic socialist Republic of 

Sri Lanka. Clause 28 4 (m) of the 

National Education Act no 28, 

1985 

Contrary to the instructions in the 

Establishment code 
1
/20 payments 

have been paid on the gross salary 

based on an internal circular 179 

issued by the National Institute of 

Education in 1996 till the end of 

the year under review, the 

Administration and Financial 

Regulations of the Institute had not 

been approved. 
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2.2.3  That action has been taken not in conformity with the powers, role  and 

action of the Institute as per requirement stated in clause 12 (g) of the 

National Audit Act 19, 2018.  

 

2.2.4  That the resources of the Institute have not been procured and made use 

of economically efficiently and effectively within the period, in 

conformity with the relevant rules and regulations as required by 12 (h) 

of the National Audit Act 19, 2018.  

 

2.3  Other Facts  

 

(a)  An agreement had been entered into with the “Selasine” Television Institute on 

24
th

 December 2021 to inform the public about the new education reforms, and 

as per the agreement, an expenditure of Rs. 15,412,150 had been incurred to 

conduct 05 television programs. Although the relevant publicity programs were 

to be completed before 29
th

 December 2021, the relevant program had not been 

advertised even by the end of the year under review. 

 

(b)  Although the Department of Teacher Education had planned to conduct 200 

chapters for Curriculum and Pedagogy Education courses under Professional 

Development Courses in the year under review, the courses had not been started 

due to non-approval from the Academic Affairs Board. 

 

(c)  Although it was planned to conduct capacity development awareness programs 

on new curriculum reforms for teachers in grades 6-10 in pilot project schools, 

the same had not been carried out. 

 

(d)  Although the Department of Bilingual Education had spent Rs. 1,288,810 on 

Pirivena education, the planned activities had been stopped midway. 

 

(e)  Two officers who did not meet the basic qualifications required for promotion to 

the post of Director, outside the recruitment process, had been promoted to the 

post of Deputy Director General from 01
st
 of July 2013 and are still serving in 

the institution up to the date of the audit report. 
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Explanatory Report related to the Auditor General’s report  as per clause 12 of the  

National Audit Act. 2018, number 19, regarding the financial statements and other legal  

regulatory  requirements of  the National Institute of Education, for the year ending on  31
st
 

December 2022. 

 

1.2  Basis for qualifying opinion 

 

a. Agreed. 

 

Fixed deposits to the value of Rs. 141,229,813/- due to mature in less than three 

months have been shown as short term investments. Action will be taken to show 

them under cash and things similar to cash in the following accounting year, as 

per Accounting Standard number 02. 

 

The difference between the initial balance and the closing balance is on the actual 

cash flow of the relevant year. The statement of the cash flow had been done 

accordingly. 

 

Instructions have been given to the financial section to follow accounting 

standards in the preparation of accounts for the year 2023; action will be taken to 

hold training programs to make the relevant staff of the Institute aware of the   

Government Accounting Standards. 

 

b.  When the Institute receives capital from the Treasury, that capital is entered under 

the heading Expenditure. Accordingly, the capital received has been entered under 

the heading of Capital Expenditure in the 2022 Annual Statement of Income and 

Expenditure of the National Institute of Education too. The capital grant of   Rs. 

50 million above on the annual accounts had been received for capital 

expenditure. Therefore, grants for capital funds are entered on the statement 

indicating the financial status. Thus, it has been entered on the statement of the 

financial status of the year 2022. 

 

Instructions have been given to the financial section to follow accounting 

standards in the preparation of accounts for the year 2023; action will be taken to 

hold training programs to make the relevant staff of the Institute aware of the   

Government Accounting Standards. 

 

c.  Agreed. 

 

From the beginning itself, the gratuity has been   calculated according to the rules 

and regulations of the Gratuity Act 1983, number 12. Since the payments have to 

be made according to the Gratuity Act, the calculations have been made according 

to the Gratuity Act. 

 

Instructions have been given to the financial section to follow accounting 

standards in the preparation of accounts for the year 2023; action will be taken to 
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hold training programs to make the relevant staff of the Institute aware of the   

Government Accounting Standards. 

 

d.  Agreed 

 

The Rs. 3,027,0220/- which is the value of the software  which comes under  

intangible assets according to  the  Government  Accounting Standards  number 

20,  will be rectified and presented in the accounts for the year 2023. 

 

Instructions have been given to the financial section to follow accounting 

standards in the preparation of accounts for the year 2023; action will be taken to 

hold training programs to make the relevant staff of the Institute aware of the   

Government Accounting Standards. 

 

e.  The monies due to be paid to the Provident Fund shown in the audit observations, 

are relevant to the period 2006-2015, and  is an amount  for which the payments 

have  been concluded within the year 2022. 

 

Although those monies could  have been paid  during the 10 years between 2005-

2015, since the  value has been revealed only at the expiration of the ten   years, 

and as  already  it has been a long time since  the expiration of that period, and 

since the financial statements and annual reports relevant to that period have been 

approved by parliament, and therefore since clarifications  regarding them are not 

of any use, action has been taken to account for the Provident funds outstanding 

in the  year under review. However, action will be taken to balance the relevant 

expenditure in the accumulated funds for the year 2023. 

 

Action will be taken to act according to audit instructions in the preparation of the 

accounts in the year 2023. 

 

f.  Agreed. 

 

It is observed that the repairs to the hostel should have been done in the year 

2008, as there were various problems such as leaks in the bathrooms and the 

lavatories of that   hostel. The sum of Rs. 1,200,949/= shown here has been paid 

in 2008, for repairs of the hostel and plans of the construction of buildings. 

However due to the shortage  of funds in the years after  2008,  these repairs and 

buildings  have not been done and it is observed that the sum  paid above in  that 

year  has been accounted for as for work that is  being done. 

 

Allocations have been made in the years 2019/2020, and the repairs, have been 

now completely done as planned in 2008, and since this repair was a repair on a 

larger scale, should be considered as capital expenditure. 

 

Action will be taken to rectify the relevant adjustments as per auditing 

recommendations through the accounts replaced in the year 2003. 
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g.  Agreed 

 

The sum of rupees 15,739,042/- stated in the Statement of Financial 

Accomplishment as income from the hostel in the year under review, comprises 

the income received in the year 2022, and the income that should have been 

received in 2023 (as according to the year 2022). But according to the hostel 

keeper’ s letter (annex 01) there is a practical difficulty in providing information 

correctly to the financial section about rectifying the income that should be 

received in the year 2023 as  relevant to the year 2022. 

 

But by this time the correct income that should be received, provided by the  

Hostel Keeper is presented  through Annex 01. 

 

Action will be taken to rectify the income that should be received related to the 

income from the hostel as per auditing recommendations in presenting the 

accounts for the year 2023, on  the  letter presented regarding the rectification of 

the income.  

 

h.  Agreed. 

 

As a result of the deposit of Rs. 590,176.40 related to the repair of the building at 

Meepe that caught fire being accounted for twice, the sum of Rs. 1,180,352/- of 

the account of unfinished work has been accounted for, through oversight. 

 

Action will be taken to make the relevant staff aware by holding training 

programs. 

 

i.  It is not incorrect to point out that  the income of interest from investments in the 

year under review has been accounted for less Rs. 723,358/-. 

 

The reason for the sum of Rs.14,140,041.19 accounted for as monies to be 

received in the year 2021,being totally not received was, due to the fact that the 

fixed deposits stated in annex 02, under numbers 01 to 09 dated 2022.05.22 had 

been cashed  before the maturity of the fixed deposits, to obtain the  benefit of the  

interest rates that had  gone up very high. 

 

Action will be taken in preparing the accounts for the year 2023, to do the 

rectification by making the necessary adjustments of the sum of Rs. 4,803,435.03 

as shown in the restated accounts of the year 2021.(Annex 03) 

 

j.  Since only the income actually received in the year under review has been 

accounted for as income from the courses of study it remains a practical problem 

how the incorporation of the income received later, and the income that should be 

received can be proved. As a result, since presentation of the data implied and 

forecast are  in correct, the actual income received has been revealed thus, in the 

accounts. 
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A systems of payment to charge fees has been introduced through the Bank of 

Ceylon and the People’s Bank. It will be possible to avoid these problems in the 

future according to this method. 

 

Action will be taken to do the accounts for the year 2023 on the audit 

recommendations.   

 

k.  In recordings the monies received for the convocation of the Colleges of 

Education, it has been computerized under capital grants. This error will be 

rectified in the set of accounts for the year ending in 2023.  

 

2. Report on other legal and regulatory requirements 
 

a. The Financial Regulations of the Democratic Socialist Republic of Sri Lanka 

 

i. 394(d) paragraph. 

 

Agreed. 

As a result of the invalidated cheques being re-extended at the end of the 

year, no balancing of the accounts has been done further, till those dates 

are reached. Steps will be taken in the year 2023, to do the required 

balancing   according to paragraph (d) 394 of the Financial Regulations. 

The accounting in the year 2023 will be done on the audit 

recommendations. 

 

ii.  clauses 569,570 and 571. 

 

Agreed  

 

Since no request has been made for the deposits, the deposits are still 

there. Approval will be obtained for the accounts of 2023, and action will 

be taken according to audit recommendations. 

The 2023 accounts will be done according to audit recommendations. 

 

b. Clause   28 and 4 (g) of the National Education Act number 28,1985. 

 

The Administrative and Financial Regulations of the Institute received approval at 

the 469
th

 Council meeting   of the National Institute of Education and since a 

revision in the introductory chapter is due, once the approval of the Council is 

received for that revision, the Administrative and Financial Regulations will be 

directed to the Treasury for its concord. 
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c. Clause 371(2) (b) revised by paragraph 9.1 of the Finance Circular number 

01/2020 dated 28. August 2020. 

 

The advance – referred to in audit query annex 01, sequence numbers 01 to 07, 

has been obtained as expenses to  hold Part III Examination of the  Bachelor of 

Education examination held in  26 examination centers across the country on  4
th

 

and 5
th

 June 2022.  

 

Management Assistant, Mr. R.M.Y Ratnayake who functions as the cashier of the 

National Institute of Education has obtained Rs.1,592,900/- as four advances to 

make the payments for the staff engaged in examination duties in the 26 centers of 

the above examination. 

 

The advance obtained thus has been paid to the management staff appointed as 

paying officers by the Director Examinations, and after the payments have been 

made, the advances have been closed as required. (annex 04) 

 

This is with regard to the audit query in annex 01, made with reference to the 

balance advance that had been given under the name Mr. R.M.Y Ratnayake. 

 

From the beginning itself the procedure followed had been for the cashier to cash 

a cheque in his name of a sum equivalent to the day to day paying vouchers he 

gets; this is the procedure followed not only by the National Institute of Education 

but by any other institution. Accordingly, the grant of advances cannot be 

practically limited to the cashier alone.  

 

Further in providing advances for workshops too, getting the advances and 

making the payments as usual by cashing cheques written in the name of the 

cashier, of sums similar to the estimated of the workshop, is continued. 

 

This is with reference to the advances provided in the names of Mr. D. R. S. 

Priyantha, Mrs. K.A.N.S. Alexander and Mrs. A.N. Gamage in the audit query, 

annex 01. 

 

These are officers working in the department of examinations of the National 

Institute of Education. 

 

The approval of the Council has been given for the provision of an advance up to 

a maximum Rs.100,000 for the work of examinations in the department of 

examinations.(annex 05) 

 

2.3  Other matters 

 

a. Action was taken to  create  5 main programs and 45 programs  in the three 

media, Sinhala Tamil and English   of  the duration of 05,15, 20,30,45  and 120  

seconds and 05  major programs, to  make the public aware of the  Educational 
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Reforms in the future, drawing attention to the objectives of the  financial  

contributors, as per DLI 01.3 according to the Secondary Education Sector 

Improvement  Program (SESIP) through the media unit coming under the 

Director General of the National Institute of Education, (to which funds are 

provided by the Asian Development Bank) under the  supervision of the media 

instructors  appointed by  the Asian Development Bank. 

 

Advertisements and all other electronic dissemination activities made ready for 

dissemination should have been begun on the plan of the Secondary Education 

Sector Improvement Project. These dissemination activities should have been 

done on a plan designed by two media instructors selected by the Asian 

Development Bank.  

 

As per letter  directed to the  Secretary, Education  by the  Presidential Secretariat 

dated  2023.03.13,(annex 6 ( e ))  the  letter directed to the Director General of the  

National Institute of Education by the Secretary Education  (annex 6 e) until 

approval is granted  for  the  curriculum reforms (2020-2023)  the submission of 

Cabinet  memoranda for the approval of the Cabinet has been temporarily stalled.  

 

Please refer to the attached annex (annex 6a-e) for further information. As soon as 

the relevant work is completed   action will be taken to disseminate the programs 

that are ready. 

 

b. Even though the curriculum for this course has been completed, it has been 

temporarily stalled, as  it has been planned to  complete the  work regarding the 

course in Master of Education that is conducted by the  National Institute of 

Education at present, more effectively. 

 

After completing the proposed policy framework on continuous teacher education 

,these curriculum material  could be  made us of effectively. 

 

c. Even though Cabinet approval had been received for designing the curricula, 

Cabinet approval for implementing the piloting of these in schools had not been 

received by then, it had not been able to conduct the capacity programs as 

planned. Further allocations too had not been received by then. 

       

As per letter  directed to the  Secretary, Education  by the  Presidential Secretariat 

dated  2023.03.13,(annex 6 ( e ))  the  letter directed to the Director General of the  

National Institute of Education by the Secretary Education  (annex 6 e) until 

approval is granted  for  the  curriculum reforms (2020-2023)  the submission of 

Cabinet  memoranda for the approval of the Cabinet has been temporarily stalled.  

 

Please refer to the attached annex (annex 6a-e) for further information. As soon as 

the relevant work is completed   action will be taken to disseminate the programs 

that are ready. 
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d. Even though the Department of Bilingual Education had  made inquiries of the 

Piriven Unit of the  Ministry of Education on several occasions regarding  the  

progress of the activities that had been planned, as a result of  not receiving any 

response, this matter had to be temporarily abandoned. Action will be taken to 

take it off the annual revision  program too, on informing the Council. 

 

Even though it is mentioned that a sum of Rs. 1,288,8190/- had been spent on 

Piriven education, only a sum of Rs. 459,900/= had been spent on the activities 

inquired of according to the progress report.  

 

This sum had been calculated  with the sum of Rs. 828,970/- spent on the 

activities  entered  under number 3.0 of the progress Report-  Teacher 

Development and awareness raising under School Cluster Base Education  

Development program  (SCEEDP) and Piriven Bilingual Education (PBE)    

(annex 7) 

 

The monies spent   stated under Activities number 3.  have been spent on  the  

quarterly progress review meetings  of  provincial bilingual  coordinators and  

resource persons. 

 

Thereby the total of monies spent in the year 2022 on the Bilingual and Piriven 

education program  had been only Rs. 459,900/-. 

 

Further discussions  will be held with the Ministry of Education regarding this 

matter. 

 

e. I wish to inform that two officers who have been given promotions as  Deputy 

Director Generals  from 01 July 2013, and  have been  serving in the Institute 

from then till the date  of the Audit Report- 2023 May 25
th

  are no longer  in 

service in the Institute. 
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1.1 Reporting Entity 

The National Institute of Education has been incorporated under the National Institute 

of Education Act no. 28 of 1985.The main administration office of the Institute is 

Located at No.21, High Level Road, Maharagama. The Financial Year for the 

Institute is the year ending 31
st
 December. 

 

1.2 Conversion of foreign exchange – The transactions in foreign exchange are 

converted at the rate of exchange prevailing at the time of transactions were effected.  

 

1.3 Basis of preparation 

 

 1.3.1  Statement of compliance 

The financial statements comprise the statement of financial position, 

statement of financial performance, statement of changes in equity, cash flow 

statement and notes to the financial statements. These statements have been 

prepared in accordance with the Sri Lanka public sector accounting standards 

(SLPSAS) issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of Sri Lanka.  

 

1.4 Assets and the Bases of their Valuation 

 

1.4.1. Debtors & Other Receivable 

Receivables are carried at anticipated realisable value. An estimate is made for 

doubtful receivables based on a review of specific outstanding amounts at the 

year end.  

 

1.4.2 Property, Plant & Equipment and Depreciation 

Assets are recorded at cost or revalued amount less accumulated depreciation 

(Carrying Amount) and cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable 

to the acquisition of the asset. Depreciation is charged to the income statement 

on the written down values at the following rates per annum in order to write 

off the cost of such assets over their estimated useful lives. 

 

Office Furniture & Equipment 10% 

Computer Equipment   33.3 % 

Library Books & Periodicals  10% 

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
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Plant & Machinery   10% 

Motor Vehicles   20% 

Buildings    5% 

Photocopy Machines   10% 

   Electricity Supply (Solar System) 10% 

   Cloaks     20% 

   Lab Equipment   10%  

   Container    10%  

 

1.4.3 Inventories 

Inventories have been valued at lower of cost and net realisable value. 

 

1.4.4  Cash & Cash Equivalents 

Cash & Cash Equivalents are defined as cash in hand, cash in transit & 

current account balances in banks.  

 

1.4.5 Cash Flow  

Cash Flow statement has been prepared using the indirect   method. 

 

1.5 Accounting Grants 

 

Grants that compensate the institute for expenses incurred are recognised as revenue 

in the income statement on a systematic basis in the same period in which the 

expenses are incurred. Grants that compensate the institute for the cost of asset is 

capitalized and amortised as revenue on a systematic basis over the useful life of the 

related assets. 

 

1.6 Employee Benefits  

 

1.6.1 Provision for gratuity 

A Provision has been made for retiring gratuity payable under “Retiring 

Gratuity Act, No 12 of 1983” for all employees who have joined the Institute.  

 

 1.6.2   Define contribution plans 

Obligations for contributions to Employees Provident Fund and Employees 

Trust fund are recognised as incurred expenses in the income statement.  
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1.7      Current Liabilities 

 

Current Liabilities are those which fall due for payment on demand or within one year 

from the balance sheet date. Noncurrent Liabilities will fall due for payments one year 

or more after the balance sheet date. 

 

1.8 Events after the Balance Sheet Date 

 

The materiality of events occurring after the balance sheet date has been considered 

and appropriate adjustment, wherever necessary, have been made in the accounts. 

 

1.9 Income and Expenditure 

 

1.9.1 Revenue recognition  

 

(i) Government Grant for Recurrent Expenditure recognized cash basis in 

the Statement of Financial Performance. 

(ii)   Surplus / Deficits on examinations, seminars, courses and   other 

educational and member activities are taken to income accounts on 

accrual basis. 

 

 1.9.2     Expenditure 

 

(i) All expenditure incurred in the running of the institute and maintaining   

the capital assets in the state of efficiency has been charged to revenue 

in arriving at the surplus – (deficit) for the year.  

(ii) All Expenditure incurred in the acquisition, extension, or improvement 

of assets of a permanent nature in order to carry on or increase the 

earning capacity of the institute have been treated as capital 

expenditure.  

2.0      Contingencies 

          

            Contingent Assets 

 

2.1    Since the outcome of legal cases indicated below are subjected to the decision 

of the court they are disclosed as contingent assets. 
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1.  Mrs. S.J.M.S.N Senewerathne     Rs. 2,947,745.00 

2.  Mrs. K.W.P.A. Weerawardhana  Rs.    198,497.00 

3.  Miss. B.K. Wijegunawardhene  Rs. 1,335,286.00 

   4  .Mr. K.  R Kumar   Rs. 2,237337.00 

 

2.2 Rs. 77,491,268.33 worth of orders have been issued and no goods were 

received as at the balance sheet date. 

 

2.3 The Institute has signed agreements with contractors for construction and 

rehabilitation works for the value of Rs.61,423,690.93 during the year (2022) 

and to be completed and paid in the year 2023. 
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Loan Fund Revaluation and 

other Reserves

Capital Reserves Accumulated 

Fund 

Bond violation 

fund

Total

Rs.   Cts. Rs.   Cts. Rs.   Cts. Rs.   Cts. Rs.   Cts.

Balance at 1
st
 January 2021 79,159,981 5,492,019,118 1,165,415,222 271,040,025 7,007,634,346

Fixed Assets Reserve Revenue Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil 0

Deposit Capital Reserve Nil Nil Nil Nil 0

Capital Grant Nil Nil 176,008,097 Nil Nil 176,008,097

Disposal Profit Fund Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil 0

Transfer to Loan Fund Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil 0

Prior Year Adjustment Nil Nil Nil 154,218,719 Nil 154,218,719

Interest from Distress Loan 3,017,663 Nil Nil Nil Nil 3,017,663

Loan Fund Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil 0

Surplus for the year Nil Nil Nil (72,631,933) Nil (72,631,933)

Donation Nil Nil (22,024,440) Nil (22,024,440)

Grant for Treasury & others Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil 0

Revaluation surplus & other reserves Nil Nil Nil Nil 0

Provision for Research Development Nil (645,000) Nil Nil Nil (645,000)

Obsolete stock Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil 0

Depreciation (Deferred Reserves) Nil Nil (63,081,225) Nil (63,081,225)

Over Accounted Nil Nil Nil ` 0

Other Reserves 3,194,206 3,194,206

Provision for  Capital Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil 0

Bond violation Fund 0

Provision for Research Development Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil 0

Balance as at 31
st
 December 2021 82,177,644 5,494,568,324 1,256,317,654 352,626,811 0 7,185,690,433

Balance at 1
st
 January 2022 82,177,644 5,494,568,324 1,256,317,654 352,626,811 0 7,185,690,433

Fixed Assets Reserve Revenue Nil Nil Nil Nil 0

Deposit Capital Reserve Nil Nil Nil Nil 0

Capital Grant Nil Nil 52,319,650 Nil Nil 52,319,650

Recognice During the year

Capital Grant (Forieng Aid) Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil 0

Disposal Profit Fund Nil Nil Nil Nil 0

Transfer to Loan Fund Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil 0

Prior Year Adjustment Nil Nil Nil 8,283,847 Nil 8,283,847

Interest from Distress Loan 2,749,999 Nil Nil Nil Nil 2,749,999

Loan Fund Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil 0

Surplus for the year Nil Nil Nil 572,939,994 Nil 572,939,994

Donation Nil Nil Nil Nil 0

Grant for Treasury & others Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil 0

Revaluation surplus & other reserves Nil Nil Nil Nil 0

Provision for Research Development Nil Nil Nil Nil 0

Obsolete stock Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil 0

Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil 0

Other Reserves Nil (5,164,308) Nil Nil Nil (5,164,308)

Bond Violation Fund Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil 0

Provision for Research Development Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil 0

Balance as at 31
st
 December 2022 84,927,643 5,489,404,016 1,308,637,304 933,850,652 0 7,816,819,614
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2022 2021

Cash Flow from Operating Activities    Rs.           Cts Rs.             Cts

Surplus/ (Deficit) from ordinary activities 572,939,993.76 -72631933.37

Adjustment for Non Cash movements

Depreciation 132450600.10 110,872,634.02

Provision for Gratuity 17,844,336.31 17,424,556.26

Other Adjustments 7197065.28 -49632649.8

Operating Activities Before Working  Capital Changes 730,431,995.45 6,032,607.11

(Increase) / Decrease in Stock 26,733,626.03 878,610.03

(Increase) / Decrease  in Receivables -10,339,096.82 23,456,838.49

(Increase) / Decrease in other Current Assets 80,110.00

Increase / (Decrease) in Payable -237552999.9 134,883,579.98

Net Cash Flow from Working Capital -221,158,470.67 159,299,138.50

Cash Generated from Operations 509,273,524.78 165,331,745.61

Retirement Benefit Cost Paid -5,145,389.99 -18,889,952.50

Net Cash Generated from Operating Activities 504,128,134.79 146,441,793.11

Cash Flows from  Investing Activities

Work-in Progress 257,759,255.96 -104,224,954.37

Additions Property Plant and Equipment -246,602,901.04 -202,880,352.32

Investment in Treasury Bills and Fixed Deposits -490,541,125.75 178,594,352.48

Net Cash used in Investing Activities -479,384,770.83 -128,510,954.21

Cash Flow from Financing Activities

Capital Grant & Donation 52,319,650.00 153,983,656.64

Reserve Fund -5,164,308.29 2,549,206.14

Bond Violation Fund

Loan Fund 2,749,998.79 3,017,663.00

Net Cash used in Financing Activities 49,905,340.50 159,550,525.78

Net Increase / (decrease) In Cash and Cash Equival 74,648,704.46 177,481,364.68

Cash & Cash Equivalents at  the beginning of year 238,960,105.29 61,478,740.61

Cash & Cash Equivalents at End of the Year 313,608,809.75 238,960,105.29
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NATIONAL INSTITUTE OF EDUCATION      

Notes To The Statement of Financial Position As At 31/12/2022

Note 1

Cash & Cash Equivalents
Descriptions 2022 2021

Rs.Cts Rs.Cts

BANK OF CEYLON A/C 85835316 YOUTUBE (A8) 229,180.61 665,405.00

CF - BOC A/C 607624 (A1) - 269 14,748,379.02 21,724,747.01

DEPOSIT- BOC A/C  607626  (A4) - 0272 36,030,693.53 102,101,541.67

FOREIGN - BOC A/C  607630  (A2) - 0270 19,870,920.07 36,744,681.52

INCOME - BOC A/C  607628  (A3) - 0271 238,154,650.86 54,541.66

MEEPE- BOC PADUKKA - A/C 7041168 (A7) - 0268 1,745,380.96 77,666,188.43

SAVING ACCOUNT-SECURITY DEPOSIT-STAFF - 0273 3,000.00 3,000.00

PEOPLES BANK A/C 0027986 2,826,604.70 0.00

Total 313,608,809.75 238,960,105.29

Note 2

`

Short Term Investment

2022 2021

Descriptions Rs.Cts Rs.Cts

INVESTMENTS-OTHERS - 0237 1,063,220,598.27 572,679,472.52

Total 1,063,220,598.27 572,679,472.52

Note 3

Trade,Otherreceivables & advances
2022 2021

Descriptions Rs.Cts Rs.Cts

BOOK LOAN - 0247 800.00 400.00

CONTRACT CONTROL A/C - 0234 0.00

DISTRESS LOAN - 0243 59,713,525.00 67,552,754.00

ENTERTAINMENT ADVANCE - 0255 80,000.00 0.00

FESTIVAL ADVANCE - 0249 129,000.00 111,500.00

GENERAL ADVANCE - 0253 60,431.50 60,431.50

IMPREST-PETTY CASH - 0262 5,330.00 0.00

IMPREST-POSTAGE - 0264 275,000.00 330,000.00

MISCELLANEOUS ADVANCE - 0261 551,630.00 7,930.00

PURCHASES ADVANCE & STORES ADVANCE - 0259 10,495.00 0.00

RECEIVABLE ACCOUNT - 0244 73,554,518.66 55,969,801.05

REPAIRS & MAINTENANCE ADVANCE - 0258 80.00 21,230.00

SALARY ADVANCE - 0248 48,685.21 0.00

SUNDRY DEBTORS - 0240 285,560.00 285,560.00

TRANSPORT ADVANCE - 0256 0.00 10,952.00

WORK SHOP ADVANCE - 0254 0.00 25,400.00

Total 134,715,055.37 124,375,958.55

Note 4

PROVISION FOR BAD & DOUBTFUL DEBTORS 

2022 2021

Descriptions Rs.Cts Rs.Cts

PROVISION FOR BAD & DOUBTFUL DEBTORS - 0054 -14,278.00 -14,278.00

Total -14,278.00 -14,278.00

Note 5

INVENTORIES/STOCK

2022 2021

Descriptions Rs.Cts Rs.Cts

STOCK  A/C - 0239 67,797,439.82 94,531,065.85

Total 67,797,439.82 94,531,065.85

Note 6

WORK-IN-PROGRESS

2022 2021

Descriptions Rs.Cts Rs.Cts

WORK-IN-PROGRESS - 0236 326,965,567.69 584,724,823.65

Total 326,965,567.69 584,724,823.65
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Note 7

INFRASTRUCTURE,PLANT,EQIPMENT,LAND AND BUILDINGS(NET)

Descriptions 2022 2021

Rs.Cts Rs.Cts

FIXED ASSETS - BUILDINGS - 0364 1,673,101,560.00 1,463,907,807.98

FIXED ASSETS - PHOTOCOPY MACHINES - 0324 0.00 0.00

FIXED ASSETS- FURNITURE FITTINGS - 0221 76,432,526.70 73,653,574.62

FIXED ASSETS- LAB EQUIPMENTS- 0327 34,857,089.17 32,416,387.73

FIXED ASSETS- OFFICE EQUIPMENTS - 0326 78,502,937.88 76,354,813.38

FIXED ASSETS-CLOAKS - 0228 8,158,500.00 8,158,500.00

FIXED ASSETS-COMPUTER ACCESSORIES - 0235 128,325,180.95 100,488,028.00

FIXED ASSETS-ELECTRICITY SUPPLY MACHINE - 0230 34,821,430.01 34,821,430.01

FIXED ASSETS-LANDS - 0220 4,419,300,000.00 4,419,300,000.00

FIXED ASSETS-LIBRARY BOOKS & PERIODICALS - 0224 70,182,125.97 69,705,907.92

FIXED ASSETS-MOTOR CYCLE & PUSH BICYCLE - 0323 0.00 0.00

FIXED ASSETS-MOTOR VEHICLE - 0226 100,550,000.00 100,550,000.00

FIXED ASSETS-OTHERS - 0231 1,296,000.00 1,296,000.00

FIXED ASSETS-PLANT & MACHINERY - 0232 68,131,522.09 66,403,522.09

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION  - 0233 -508,882,199.70 -377,518,380.74

Total 6,184,776,673.07 6,069,537,590.99

Note 8

TRADE,OTHER PAYABLE & ACCRUED EXPENSES

2022 2021

Descriptions Rs.Cts Rs.Cts

PROVISION FOR AUDIT FEES - 0321 4,849,275.00 7,002,415.00

PUBLIC OFFICERS A/C - 0303 0.00 0.00

REFUNDABLE DEPOSIT - 0070 61,050.00 157,800.00

REFUNDABLE DEPOSIT-HOSTEL - 0280 0.00 0.00

REFUNDABLE DEPOSIT-LIBRARY - 0283 1,964,500.00 2,626,500.00

REFUNDABLE DEPOSIT-MISCELLANEOUS/SUNDRY - 0284 0.00 0.00

REFUNDABLE DEPOSIT-SECURITY - 0281 10,000.00 22,000.00

REFUNDABLE DEPOSIT-TENDER - 0282 1,034,960.00 1,389,205.00

REIMBURSEMENT - 0025 0.00 0.00

RETENTION - 0312 26,583,940.92 140,148,176.23

SALARIES & WAGES CONTROL A/C - 0314 0.00

SUNDRY CREDITORS - 0311 5,000.00 68,638,416.81

SUNDRY CREDITORS-ROYALTIES - 0310 0.00 0.00

TAX CONTROL ACCOUNT - 0360 0.00 0.00

TRADE UNION - 0293 24,300.00 24,300.00

ACCRUED EXPENSES - 0320 21,469,761.22 73,581,356.74

BANK OF CEYLON A/C (WORLD BANK) - 0319 0.00 0.00

BID BOND - 0318 381,620.00 686,050.00

CANCELLED CHEQUES - 0313 762,448.67 615,135.91

INSURANCE CORPORATION - 0307 191,500.00 0.00

Total 57,338,355.81 294,891,355.69

Note 9

PROVISION FOR GRATUITY 

2022 2021

Descriptions Rs.Cts Rs.Cts

PROVISION FOR GRATUITY - 0322 216,911,896.08 204,212,949.76

Total 216,911,896.08 204,212,949.76

Note 10

CAPITAL RESERVES & GRANT

2022 2021

Descriptions Rs.Cts Rs.Cts

CAPITAL GRANT - 0356 -1,118,285,578.07 -1,118,285,578.07

CAPITAL-ACQUIRED ASSETS - 0209 79,615,563.45 79,615,563.45

DEPOSIT CAPITAL - LOCAL -0359 155,308,732.89 152,989,082.89

DONATION - 0219 5,328,237.98 5,328,237.98

FIXED ASSETS RESERVE REVENUE A/C - 0351 4,916,791.32 4,916,791.32

FOREIGN AID-JICA BUILDING COMPLEX - 0210 660,000,000.00 660,000,000.00

GOV. GRANT FOR CAPITAL (C.F) - 0211 1,272,138,606.97 1,222,138,606.97

GOV. GRANTFOR CAPITAL(FOREIGN AID & LOCAL) OTHERS 136,415,002.24 136,415,002.24

GOVERNMENT GRANTFOR CAPITAL(FOREIGN AID)ADB - 0215 11,756,137.50 11,756,137.50

GOVERNMENT GRANTFOR CAPITAL(FOREIGN AID)WB - 0217 71,946,907.00 71,946,907.00

GOVT. GRANT FOR CAPITAL (FOREIGN AID) SIDA 0212 29,496,903.18 29,496,903.18

Total 1,308,637,304.46 1,256,317,654.46
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Note 11

ACCUMULATED FUND - 0331

Descriptions 2022 2021

Rs.Cts Rs.Cts

BALANCE B/D FROM PREVIOUS YEAR - 0326 309,458,546.42 301,174,700.00

0.00 0.00

EXCESS OF EXPENDITURE OVER INCOME - 0325 624,392,104.38 51,452,110.62

PRIOR YEAR ADJUSTMENTS - 0200 0.00 0.00

WRITE OFF & OTHER ADJUSTMENT-CREDIT - 0327 0.00 0.00

Total 933,850,650.80 352,626,810.62

Note 12

LOAN FUND

2022 2021

Descriptions Rs.Cts Rs.Cts

EMPLOYEES LOAN FUND - 0328 70,336,385.08 70,336,385.08

INTEREST FROM DISTRESS LOAN - 0020 14,591,258.13 11,841,259.34

Total 84,927,643.21 82,177,644.42

Note 13

RESERVE FUND

Descriptions 2022 2021

Rs.Cts Rs.Cts

APCEIU - RESERVE FUND - 0369 3,393,579.00 7,692,887.29

PROVISION FOR RESEARCH DEVELOPMENT- 0353 4,390,000.00 5,255,000.00

RE-VALUATION RESERVE FUND - 0330 5,481,620,436.61 5,481,620,436.61

Total 5,489,404,015.61 5,494,568,323.90

Note 14

GOVERNMENT AND FOREIGN GRANT RECURRENT

2022 2021

Descriptions Rs.Cts Rs.Cts

FOREIGN GRANT FOR RECURRENT- UNICEF - 0003 4,770,375.70 9,719,000.00

GOV. GRANT FOR RECURRENT(C.F) - 0001 560,000,000.00 495,000,000.00

GOVERNMENT GRANT FOR RECURRENT FOREIGN AID -UNESCO 14,379,800.00 0.00

GOVERNMENT GRANT FOR RECURRENT FOREIGN AID -WB 73,000,000.00 119,991,903.36

GOVERNMENT GRANT FOR RECURRENT FOREIGN AID-ADB 0.00 0.00

GOVERNMENT GRANT FOR RECURRENT OTHERS 62,000,000.00 209,929,815.00

Total 714,150,175.70 834,640,718.36

Note 15

DEPOSIT INCOME

2022 2021

Descriptions Rs.Cts Rs.Cts

DEPOSIT INCOME -FOREIGN - 0017 4,395,722.29 8,583,118.86

DEPOSIT INCOME -LOCAL - 0018 43,137,715.00 5,472,577.55

Total 47,533,437.29 14,055,696.41

Note 16

MICELLANEOUS INCOME

2022 2021

Descriptions Rs.Cts Rs.Cts

PRE SCHOOL INCOME - 0035 524,500.00 75,750.00

SALE OF OLD STOCK- 0023 547,415.00 122,575.00

SALE OF PRODUCTION (FERTILIZER,YIELD & OTHER)-0024 95,772.00 13,200.00

SALE OF PUBLICATIONS N.I.E INCOME - 0030 60,877,114.00 24,911,500.00

Total 62,044,801.00 25,123,025.00

Note 17

COURCE & EXAMINATION INCOME

2022 2021

Descriptions Rs.Cts Rs.Cts

COURSE FEES- 0027 924,488,875.00 206,796,872.50

EXAMINATION FEES - 0028 45,800,411.00 31,221,615.00

Total 970,289,286.00 238,018,487.50

Note 18

PENALTIES & RECOVERIES

2022 2021

Descriptions Rs.Cts Rs.Cts

LIBRARY FINES, PENALTIES AND OTHER CHARGES - 0033 579,596.50 20,930.25

Total 579,596.50 20,930.25
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Note 19

HOSTEL FEES

2022 2021

Descriptions Rs.Cts Rs.Cts

HOSTEL FEES-MEALS - 0031 9,409,915.00 14,099,410.00

HOSTEL FEES-ROOM - 0032 6,329,127.29 2,342,565.50

Total 15,739,042.29 16,441,975.50

Note 20

OTHER INCOME

2022 2021

Descriptions Rs.Cts Rs.Cts

AID FROM LOCAL AGENCIES  - 0019 0.00 0.00

APPLICATION FEE - 0042 14,086,985.00 2,518,150.00

APPROPRIATION - 0345 0.00 0.00

CONVOCATION INCOME & MISCELLANEOUS RECEIPTS- 0037 12,539,400.00 0.00

DEPOSIT- NON REFUNDABLE - 0036 21,500.00 1,190,700.00

DIFFERED INCOME (DEPRECIATION) 2018- 0193 0.00 0.00

DIFFERED INCOME - DEPRECIATION (INCOME) - 0366 0.00 63,081,224.82

HIRE OF PLANT EQUIPMENT - 0034 0.00 0.00

INSTITUTIONAL INCOME - 0370 0.00 0.00

INTEREST FROM BANK - 0021 0.00 0.00

INTEREST FROM INVESTMENTS - 0349 96,261,555.88 47,145,784.29

MISCELLANEOUS INCOME - 0038 4,956,630.04 2,048,508.03

MODULE FEES - 0029 0.00 0.00

REGISTRATION FEES - 0026 28,466,970.00 3,876,550.00

RENT FROM PROPERTIES - 0022 4,067,695.94 720,498.87

SUPPLIER REGISTRATION - 0039 471,020.00 642,300.00

YOUTUBE INCOME - 0368 704,314.11 636,896.85

Total 161,576,070.97 121,860,612.86

Note 21

PERSONAL EMOLUMENTS

2022 2021

Descriptions Rs.Cts Rs.Cts

COUNCIL MEMBER FEES & OTHER ALLOWANCES - 0101 1,674,767.00 1,809,500.00

EMPLOYEES CONTRIBUTION TO TRUST FUND(ETF3%) - 0113 9,844,938.50 9,918,847.40

EMPLOYEES CONTRIBUTIONS TO PROVIDENT FUNDS12% - 58,365,895.87 49,511,828.23

GRATUITY EXPENSES - 0120 17,844,336.31 17,424,556.26

OVERTIME/HOLIDAY PAY/ 1/20 PAYMENTS 40,187,776.81 52,692,418.60

PENSION CONTRIBUTION   - 0116 450,007.00 156,664.91

SALARIES & WAGES  - 0103 453,020,489.36 384,244,800.11

SALARIES & WAGES-NON EXECUTIVE-DAYS PAY - 0111 13,483,802.70 7,619,705.50

Total 594,872,013.55 523,378,321.01

All employees of the institute members of the employees'provident fund and employees trust fund to which the institute

 contributes 12%  and 3% respectively of such employees"basis or consolidated wages or salary.

Note 22

TRAVELLING EXPENSES

2022 2021

Descriptions Rs.Cts Rs.Cts

2007  - P - TRAVELING EXPENSES 0.00 0.00

OUTFIT ALLOWANCES - 0123 0.00 0.00

TRAVELING & SUBSISTENCE - LOCAL 1,749,725.92 723,532.45

TRAVELING & SUBSISTENCE-FOREIGN - 0122 358,545.05 0.00

Total 2,108,270.97 723,532.45

Note 23

SUPPLIES & CONSUMABLE USED

2022 2021

Descriptions Rs.Cts Rs.Cts

2007 - P - PRINTING & PUBLICATION 0.00 0.00

CONSUMABLE ITEMS - 0189 14,310,474.01 2,224,365.42

CUSTOM DUTY - 0130 0.00 0.00

FUEL & OIL - 0124 14,538,174.64 10,636,582.95

NEWS PAPER NOTIFICATIONS MAGAZINES - 0128 988,842.80 1,573,659.00

PRESS -  REGISTRATION CHARGES - 0125 0.00 0.00

PRINTING  STATIONARY & OTHER SUPPLIES- 0127 83,941,672.60 44,419,390.51

PRINTING MATERIALS - 0132 0.00 28,544.00

SUBSCRIPTION & PERIODICALS - 0126 0.00 0.00

TEACHING MATERIALS - 0129 585,524.00 32,584.00

UNIFORMS & TAILORING - 0131 344,000.00 356,000.00

Total 114,708,688.05 59,271,125.88
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Note 24

DEPRICIATION & AMORTISATION EXPENSES

2022 2021

Descriptions Rs.Cts Rs.Cts

DEPRECIATION - 0171 132,450,600.10 110,872,634.02

Total 132,450,600.10 110,872,634.02

Note 25

MAINTANANCE

2022 2021

Rs.Cts Rs.Cts

REPAIR&MAINTENANCE-OFFICE EQUIPMENT&FURNITURE 0136 27,877,844.89 13,085,850.45

REPAIRS & MAINTENANCE-BUILDINGS - 0134 36,597,010.56 64,857,608.51

REPAIRS & MAINTENANCE-ELECTRICAL - 0138 4,693,080.82 14,285,832.31

REPAIRS & MAINTENANCE-OTHERS - 0137 8,379,141.56 1,682,740.86

REPAIRS & MAINTENANCE-VEHICLES - 0135 4,548,352.49 8,755,448.69

Total 82,095,430.32 102,667,480.82

Note 26

CONTRACTUAL SERVISES

2022 2021

Descriptions Rs.Cts Rs.Cts

ADVERTISING - 0151 3,286,861.00 2,883,816.00

AUDIT FEES - 0150 2,483,775.00 2,306,115.00

CLEANING SERVICE EXPENSES - 0154 24,388,911.43 16,406,596.53

DEPOSIT EXPENSES LOCAL - 0344 0.00 0.00

ELECTRICITY CHARGES - 0165 15,577,517.20 17,141,306.61

EXAMINATION EXPENSES - 0169 14,543,205.75 7,026,284.00

INSURANCE CORPORATION - 0307 0.00

INSURANCE-LIFE,FIRE,BURGLARY,MOTOR VEH.&CASHIN-166 3,072,598.42 3,457,450.58

EVALUATION CHARGES  - 0139 5,158,170.00 1,855,800.00

PIECE RATE-EDITING CHARGES - 0141 523,300.00 0.00

LECTURE FEES - 0140 3,680,300.00 2,977,200.00

PIECE RATE-OTHERS - 0148 10,005,612.50 7,780,360.87

PIECE RATE-PAPER CORRECTION CHARGES 1,261,570.00 370,700.00

PIECE RATE-PREPARATION OF QUESTION PAPERS - 0145 0.00 0.00

PIECE RATE-TEACHING PRACTICES 1,870,250.00 13,963,000.00

PIECE RATE-TRANSLATING CHARGES - 0143 434,940.50 666,214.50

PIECE RATE-VIDEO AUDIO PROGRAMME - 0147 0.00 789,070.00

PIECERATE-TYPING,TYPESETTING&DATA PROCESSING -0142 233,536.00 159,000.00

POSTAGE & TELEGRAMS - 0149 1,828,698.00 1,121,985.04

RENT & RATES OTHERS - 0133 31,015.76 64,107.54

RESEARCH  EXPENDITURE - 0339 0.00 0.00

SECURITY SERVICE CHARGES - 0153 15,436,884.49 12,452,944.31

SUPERVISION&CENTRE DEVELOPMENT CHARGES FOR CENTRE 50,806,085.44 58,532,150.00

TAX EXPENSES - 0188 0.00 0.00

TELEPHONE, INTERNET & OTHER NETWORK CHARGES - 0163 20,825,157.48 27,277,055.34

TRANSPORT CHARGES - 0167 50,525.00 52,345.00

UNDER PROVISION FOR EXPENSES 0190 0.00 0.00

WATER SUPPLY CHARGES - 0164 6,765,169.16 4,191,802.24

WORKSHOP CHARGES-ENTERTAINMENT 4,836,357.30 3,019,823.61

WORKSHOP CHARGES-FUEL EXPENSES - 0159 94,260.00 49,000.00

WORKSHOP CHARGES-OTHERS - 0161 167,640.00 244,670.00

WORKSHOP CHARGES-PARTICIPANT 1,235,900.00 1,437,500.00

WORKSHOP CHARGES-PIECE RATE - 0160 263,400.00 21,600.00

WORKSHOP CHARGES-PURCHASES OF MATERIALS 1,398,080.00 260,700.00

WORKSHOP CHARGES-RESOURCE PERSONS 221,367,085.25 256,484,879.00

CONTRACTUAL PAYMENTS - GURUGEDARA -0371 0.00 32,262,205.86

Total 411,626,805.68 475,255,682.03

Note 27

DEPOSIT EXPENSES

Descriptions Rs.Cts Rs.Cts

DEPOSIT EXPENSES - 0170 6,393,704.87 18,960,087.70

Total 6,393,704.87 18,960,087.70
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Note 28

OTHER RECURRENT EXPENDITURE

2022 2021

Descriptions Rs.Cts Rs.Cts

BANK INTEREST - 0184 -19,842.79 0.00

BANK OTHER CHARGES - 0186 0.00 0.00

CONVACATION EXPENSES - 0363 35,809,164.82 0.00

Disposal a/C -0174 580,968.86

ENTERTAINMENT & ACCOMADATION  EXPENSES - 0176 3,207,222.49 8,515,240.85

DONATIONS(COVID FUND) 0.00 0.00

HOSTEL EXPENSES - 0178 7,603,708.96 10,544,310.17

INSTITUTIONAL COST - 0194 479,000.00 1,321,520.00

LEGAL EXPENSES - 0180 0.00 497,900.78

LOSSES ACCOUNT - 0191 0.00 0.00

MEDICAL CLAIMS & MEDICAL EXPENSES - 0175 906,034.84 328,000.00

MISCELLANEOUS EXPENSES - 0183 1,838,241.27 5,442,900.06

PENALTIES EXPENSES - 0181 0.00 0.00

PRE-SCHOOL EXPENSES - 0177 0.00 22,390.00

STAFF TRAINING - 0172 3,330,350.00 3,955,304.48

STAFF WELFARE - 0182 273,875.00 978,750.00

SUSPENCE A/C 0.00 0.00

WELFARE EXPENSES - 0342 700,000.00 0.00

Total 54,708,723.45 31,606,316.34

Note 29

FINANCE COST

2022 2021

Descriptions Rs.Cts Rs.Cts

BANK CHARGES - 0168 8,179.00 58,199.00

Total 8,179.00 58,199.00
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FA - OTHER

LAND BUILDINGS
COMPUTERS AND 

ACCESSORIES

FURNITURE AND 

FITTINGS

 PLANTS AND 

MACHINERY 

FITTINGS

VEHICLES

LIBRARY 

BOOKS AND 

PERIODICALS

LAB 

EQUIPMENTS

OFFICE 

EQUIPMENTS

ELECTRICITY 

SUPPLY 

MACHINE

CLOAKS CONTAINERS
TOTAL AS  AT 31

ST 

DECEMBER  2022

Rs. Rs. Rs. Rs. Rs. Rs. Rs. Rs. Rs. Rs. Rs. Rs. Rs.

 BALANCE AS AT THE 

BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 
4,419,300,000.00   1,463,907,807.98   100,488,028.00     73,653,574.62      66,403,522.09 100,550,000.00  69,705,907.92   32,416,387.73    76,354,813.38  34,821,430.01   8,158,500.00  1,296,000.00     6,447,055,971.73          

 ADJUSTMENT 

 AQ (1,482,803.52)         3,027,020.00         

 ADDITIONS 210,676,555.54      25,503,632.95       3,273,952.08        1,728,000.00   476,218.05        2,563,701.44      3,119,124.50    247,341,184.56             

 REVALUATION 

 TRANSFER FROM WORK IN 

PROGRESS  

 DONATION 

DISPOSALS -693,500.00 -495,000.00 -123,000.00 -971,000.00 -2,282,500.00

 BALANCE AS AT THE END 

OF THE YEAR 
4,419,300,000.00   1,673,101,560.00   128,325,180.95     76,432,526.70      68,131,522.09 100,550,000.00  70,182,125.97   34,857,089.17    78,502,937.88  34,821,430.01   8,158,500.00  1,296,000.00     6,693,658,872.77          

 DEPRECIATION 

 BALANCE AS AT THE 

BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 
-                          195,407,233.97      28,463,043.99       15,338,015.81      16,093,216.15 46,494,284.93    49,777,655.81   5,877,305.40      13,678,449.53  3,734,152.64     2,605,668.00  49,354.52          377,518,380.74             

 BEING ADJUSTED AUDIT 

QUERIES  

 CHARGES FOR THE YEAR -                          65,849,176.46        30,801,303.85       5,983,174.82        5,040,025.66   10,811,143.01    2,005,502.85     2,837,339.67      6,333,338.95    1,554,363.87     1,110,566.40  124,664.55        132,450,600.10             

 DEPRECIATION OF DISPOSAL 

ASSETS 
-                          (550,479.71)          (167,066.84)         (41,513.58)         (327,721.01)     (1,086,781.14)                

 BALANCE  AS AT THE END OF 

THE YEAR 
-                          261,256,410.43      58,713,868.13       21,154,123.80      21,133,241.81 57,305,427.95    51,783,158.65   8,673,131.49      19,684,067.48  5,288,516.50     3,716,234.40  174,019.07        508,882,199.70             

 NET BOOK VALUE OF 

ASSETS 
4,419,300,000.00   1,411,845,149.57   69,611,312.82       55,278,402.90      46,998,280.28 43,244,572.05    18,398,967.32   26,183,957.68    58,818,870.40  29,532,913.51   4,442,265.60  1,121,980.93     6,184,776,673.07          

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

08 PROPERTY, PLANT & EQUIPMENT

COST / VALUATION
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Number Requirement to be applied

Conformity 

status 

(Compliant/Not 

compliant) 

If not 

compliant, brief 

explanation 

Proposed 

corrective actions 

to prevent non-

compliance in the 

future

1 The following financial statements/accounts 

have been submitted on time.

1.1 Annual Financial Statements Compatible - -

1.2 Government Officials' Advance Account - - -

1.3 Business and Production Advance Accounts 

(Commercial Advance Accounts) - - -

1.4 Warehouse Advance Accounts - - -

1.5 Special Advance Accounts - - -

1.6 Other - - -

2 Maintenance of books and records (M.R. 

445)

2.1 Updating and maintaining the fixed asset 

register in accordance with Public 

Administration Circular 267/2018

Compatible - -

2.2 Updating and maintaining individual payroll 

records/individual payroll cards Compatible - -

2.3 Updating and maintaining the audit inquiry 

document Compatible - -

2.4 Updating and maintaining the internal audit 

report file
Compatible - -

2.5 Preparation and submission of all monthly 

account summaries (CIGAS) to the Treasury 

on the due date

not applicable - -

2.6 Updating and maintaining the check and 

money order register. Compatible - -

2.7 Update and maintain inventory register Compatible - -

2.8 Update and maintain stock register Compatible - -

2.9 Update and maintain loss register Compatible - -

2.10 Update and maintain accounts payable register Compatible - -

2.11 Updating and maintaining the sub-paper book 

(GA - N20)
Compatible - -

3 Delegating functions for financial control 

(M.R.135)

3.1 Delegating powers within the financial 

authority institution
Compatible - -

3.2 Awareness within the institution on the 

delegation of financial powers
Compatible - -

3.3 Delegation of powers so that every transaction 

is approved by two or more officers. Compatible - -
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Number Requirement to be applied

Conformity 

status 

(Compliant/Not 

compliant) 

If not 

compliant, brief 

explanation 

Proposed 

corrective actions 

to prevent non-

compliance in the 

future

3.4 Acting under the control of accountants in 

using the government payroll software 

package as per the Public Accounts Circular 

No. 171/2004 dated 2014.05.11

Compatible - -

4 Preparation of annual plans

4.1 Preparation of annual action plan Compatible - -

4.2 Preparation of annual procurement plan Compatible - -

4.3 Preparation of annual internal audit plan Compatible - -

4.4 Prepare and submit the annual estimate to the 

National Budget Department (NBD) on time
Compatible - -

4.5 Submit the annual cash flow statement to the 

Treasury Operations Department on time
Compatible - -

5 Audit Enquiries

5.1 Respond to all audit enquiries by the date 

specified by the Auditor General
Compatible - -

6 Internal Audit

6.1 Prepare internal audits in accordance with 

Section 134(2) DMA/1-2019, after 

consultation with the Auditor General at the 

beginning of the year

Compatible - -

6.2 To have responded to every internal audit 

report within a period of one month
Compatible - -

6.3 To have submitted copies of all internal audit 

reports to the Management Audit Department 

in accordance with subsection 40(4) of the 

National Audit Act, No. 19 of 2018

Compatible - -

6.4 To have submitted copies of all internal audit 

reports to the Auditor General in accordance 

with Financial Regulation 134(3)

Compatible - -

7 Audit and Management Committees

7.1 To have maintained at least 04 Audit and 

Management Committees during the relevant 

year in accordance with DMA Circular 1-2019
Compatible - -

8 Asset Management

8.1 Reporting information on asset purchases and 

misappropriations to the Comptroller General 

in accordance with Chapter 07 of the Asset 

Management Circular No. 01/2017

- - -

8.2 Reporting information on asset purchases and 

misappropriations to the Comptroller General's 

Office in accordance with Chapter 07 of the 

said Circular in accordance with Chapter 13 of 

the said Circular

- - -
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Number Requirement to be applied

Conformity 

status 

(Compliant/Not 

compliant) 

If not 

compliant, brief 

explanation 

Proposed 

corrective actions 

to prevent non-

compliance in the 

future

8.3 Conducting relevant commodity surveys in 

accordance with Public Finance Circular 

05/2016 and submitting relevant reports to the 

Auditor General on the due date
Compatible - -

8.4 The excess deficiencies and other 

recommendations revealed in the annual goods 

survey have been carried out within the period 

specified in the circular

Compatible - -

8.5 Disposal of obsolete goods has been carried 

out in accordance with M.R.772
Compatible - -

9 Vehicle management

9.1 Preparation of daily running records and 

monthly summary reports for the stock 

vehicles and submission to the Auditor 

General on the due date

Compatible - -

9.2 Vehicles have been disposed of in less than 06 

months of being obsolete
Compatible - -

9.3 Maintaining and updating the vehicle log book Compatible - -

9.4 Acting in accordance with M.R.103, 104, 109 

and 110 in relation to every vehicle accident Compatible - -

9.5 Re-inspection of fuel consumption of vehicles 

in accordance with the provisions of paragraph 

3.1 of the Public Administration Circular No. 

2016/30 dated 29.12.2016

Compatible - -

9.6 Full ownership of the leased vehicle log books 

has been taken over after the lease period
not applicable - -

10 Bank accounts Management

10.1 Preparing and certifying bank reconciliation 

statements on the due date and submitting 

them for audit

Compatible - -

10.2 Settling dormant bank accounts carried 

forward from the year under review or 

previous years

Compatible - -

10.3 Acting in accordance with financial 

regulations regarding the balances that were 

revealed in the bank reconciliation statements 

and that should have been adjusted and those 

balances were settled within a period of one 

month

Compatible - -

11 Utilization of Provisions

11.1 Incurring expenses so that the provisions made 

do not exceed their limits
Compatible - -
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Number Requirement to be applied

Conformity 

status 

(Compliant/Not 

compliant) 

If not 

compliant, brief 

explanation 

Proposed 

corrective actions 

to prevent non-

compliance in the 

future

11.2 Incurring liabilities so that the remaining 

provisions at the end of the year after 

utilization of the provision made do not 

exceed the limit of the provision as per 

M.R.94(1)

Compatible - -

12 Complying with the limits of the advance 

accounts of government officials

12.1 Compliance with restrictions. Compatible - -

12.2 Settlement of time analysis of outstanding loan 

balances
Compatible - -

12.3 Settlement of outstanding loan balances that 

have been outstanding for more than a year Compatible - -

13 Public Deposit Accounts

13.1 Actions have been taken in accordance with 

M.R.571 regarding overdue deposits
Compatible - -

13.2 Updating and maintaining the control account 

for public deposits.
Compatible - -

14 Imprest Account

14.1 The balance of the cash book at the end of the 

year under review has been remitted to the 

Treasury Operations Department
not applicable - -

14.2 The interim advance issued in terms of 

M.R.371 has been settled within one month of 

the completion of the said task

Compatible - -

14.3 The interim advance has been issued in terms 

of M.R.371 so as not to exceed the approved 

limit

Compatible - -

14.4 The balance of the imprest account has been 

reconciled with the books of the Treasury on a 

monthly basis

Compatible - -

15 Revenue Accounts

15.1 Refunds have been made from the revenue 

collected in accordance with the relevant 

regulations

Compatible - -

15.2 The revenue collected has been credited 

directly to the revenue account without being 

credited to the savings account

Compatible - -

15.3 The arrears of revenue have been submitted to 

the Auditor General in accordance with 

Section 176

Compatible - -

16 Human Resource Management

16.1 Maintaining the staff within the approved staff 

limit
Compatible - -

16.2 The list of duties has been provided in writing 

to all members of the staff
Compatible - -
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Number Requirement to be applied

Conformity 

status 

(Compliant/Not 

compliant) 

If not 

compliant, brief 

explanation 

Proposed 

corrective actions 

to prevent non-

compliance in the 

future

16.3 All reports have been submitted to the 

Management Services Department in 

accordance with MSD Circular No. 04/2017 

dated 20.09.2017

- - -

17 Providing information to the public

17.1 Appointing an Information Officer in 

accordance with the Right to Information Act 

and Regulations and maintaining an up-to-date 

record of information provided

Compatible - -

17.2 Information about the institution has been 

provided through its website, and facilities 

have been provided for the public to express 

their praise/accusations about the institution 

through the website or through alternative 

channels

Compatible - -

17.3 Reports have been submitted twice a year or 

once a year in accordance with Sections 08 

and 10 of the Right to Information Act
- - -

18 Implementation of the Citizens' Charter

18.1 A Citizens'/Service Beneficiary Charter has 

been prepared and implemented in accordance 

with the Circulars of the Ministry of Public 

Administration and Management No. 05/2008 

and 05/2018(1)

- - -

18.2 As per paragraph 2.3 of the said circular, the 

institution has prepared a methodology to 

monitor and evaluate the preparation and 

implementation of the Citizens'/Service 

Beneficiary Charter Short stay

- - -

19 Preparation of Human Resource Plan

19.1 A Human Resource Plan has been prepared 

based on the format of Annex 02 of Public 

Administration Circular No. 02/2018 dated 

24.01.2018

Compatible - -

19.2 A minimum of 12 hours of training per year 

for each member of the staff has been 

confirmed in the above-mentioned Human 

Resource Plan

Compatible - -

19.3 Signing of an annual performance agreement 

for the entire staff based on the format shown 

in Annex 01 of the above-mentioned circular

-
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Number Requirement to be applied

Conformity 

status 

(Compliant/Not 

compliant) 

If not 

compliant, brief 

explanation 

Proposed 

corrective actions 

to prevent non-

compliance in the 

future

19.4 A senior officer has been appointed with the 

responsibility of preparing the Human 

Resource Development Plan, capacity 

development and implementation of skill 

development programs in accordance with 

paragraph 6.5 of the above circular

Compatible - -

20 Responding to audit opinions

20.1 Correcting the deficiencies pointed out in the 

audit opinions issued by the Auditor General 

for the previous year

Compatible - -
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